# IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jul 10 2023

11:38AM EDT

**Transaction ID 70339906** 

DENNY HARTON,

Respondent Below, Petitioner

No. 23-ICA-242

TERRI HARTON,

v.

Petitioner Below, Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF

# ON APPEAL FROM THE FAMILY COURT OF WOOD COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

(Civil Action No. 20-D-70)

#### Submitted by:

Mark W. Kelley, Esq.
(W. Va. Bar No. 5768)
RAY, WINTON & KELLEY, PLLC
109 Capitol Street, Suite 700
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Telephone: (304) 342-1141
Fax: (304) 342-0691
markkelley@rwk-law.com
Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

The parties were married on June 17, 2000 in Wood

County, West Virginia and separated on October 26, 2019 after a

little more than nineteen years of marriage.

On February 19, 2020, Respondent Terri<sup>1</sup> Harton filed a Petition for Divorce in the Family Court of Wood County, West Virginia. In due course, Petitioner Denny Harton filed an Answer and Counter-Petition, and among other things sought enforcement of a document titled "Premarital Agreement" that the parties signed the morning of their wedding.

The Family Court convened a "Preliminary Hearing" on September 18, 2020 at which time the *Premarital Agreement* was discussed. At that hearing Ms. Harton's counsel laid out a virtual "kitchen sink" of objections challenging the validity of the agreement. Counsel and the Court agreed that the issue of the validity of the agreement should be adjudicated first, as a ruling on that issue would impact issues of equitable distribution and spousal support. See, generally, DVD of

¹The undersigned mis-spelled Respondent's name as "Terry" on the *Notice of Appeal* and in some documents filed in the family court.

09/18/2020 hearing.

The Family Court convened an evidentiary hearing on August 12, 2022 on the sole issue of the validity of the Premarital Agreement. At the conclusion of that hearing, the Family Court directed counsel for parties to each submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law to the Court.

After both parties submitted their proposed findings, the Family Court convened a hearing on December 5, 2022, to announce its rulings on the issue. The Family Court orally adopted most of Ms. Harton's proposed order, see, generally, DVD of 12/05/2022 hearing, with the exception being ruling on whether Ms. Harton had the opportunity to consult with counsel. The Court verbally noted that Ms. Harton had at least a "limited" opportunity to consult with counsel. Id., at 7:30. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court directed Ms. Harton's counsel to prepare an order finding that the Premarital Agreement was invalid. The Court further directed that it be submitted as a final order for appeal purposes. Id., at 9:59.

After that hearing, Ms. Harton's counsel filed a proposed order, and Mr. Harton's counsel filed objections pertaining to the lack of language regarding Ms. Harton's opportunity to consult with counsel. The Family Court resolved those objections by issuing a letter ruling on May 9, 2023, which directed what language was to be included in the order. Appx., p.

054. With those changes, the Final Order Regarding Validity of

Premarital Agreement ("Final Order") was entered on May 10, 2023.

It is from this Order that Mr. Harton appeals.

#### B. Statement of Facts

A few of the facts surrounding the procurement and execution of the *Premarital Agreement* are not contested. It is undisputed that Mr. Harton drafted the agreement from a form prenuptial agreement that he located on the internet. It is undisputed that neither hired or consulted with counsel regarding the agreement. It is undisputed that Ms. Harton did not read the *Premarital Agreement* before she signed it.

Beyond these few undisputed facts, the parties' testimony regarding the events leading up to the execution of the Premarital Agreement could not be more starkly different.

According to Mr. Harton, the parties first began discussing marriage in 1999. Mr. Harton had been married before and had two children from that marriage. Ms. Harton had two children from a prior relationship. Mr. Harton owned a successful business at the time the parties contemplated marriage, and he testified that he wanted a prenuptial agreement to protect his premarital assets. See, DVD of 08/12/2022 hearing, at 16:44.

Sometime in 1999, Mr. Harton located a form prenuptial agreement on the internet. According to him, the website required

him to answer a number of questions and provide information, and then the website produced an initial draft of the document. See, DVD of 08/12/2022 hearing, at 1:43:50 to 1:46:07. The printed document has the year "19\_\_\_" printed as a date at the beginning of the document and on the signature page on page 7, both of which are stricken through by pen and changed to 2000. Appx., pp. 009 & 015. The number 2000 is also written over the typed documents on the notary's acknowledgment on page 8. Appx., p. 016.

According to Mr. Harton, he gave a copy of the document to Ms. Harton and they discussed it. Mr. Harton testified that at some point, Ms. Harton requested language be included in the agreement regarding the custody of the parties' children from their prior marriages. See, DVD of 08/12/2022 hearing, at 1:46:21 to 1:46:43.

Mr. Harton testified that in response to Ms. Harton's concern, he prepared language to satisfy those concerns, and in order to have that language inserted into the agreement, he eventually had to speak to someone in customer support for the website, and they were able to insert the language and send him an updated agreement with that language included. See, DVD of 08/12/2022 hearing, at 1:46:49 to 1:47:10.

Mr. Harton testified that on the morning of their wedding, he called his bank to see if there was a notary there.

When told there was not, he called around to another branch of the bank and the parties went together to the bank and they signed duplicate originals of the agreement in the presence of the notary.

The Premarital Agreement entered into evidence is signed by both parties on page 7, and is signed by both parties on both the attached Exhibit A ("Denny Harton Financial Information") and Exhibit B ("Terri Lee Gentry Financial Information"). Appx., pp. 017 to 020.

Below the parties' signatures on page 8 of the document is the signature and seal of notary Jenny L. Jones, above which appears the following language: "This instrument was acknowledged before me on this 17th day of June 2000 by Denny Harton and Terri Lee Gentry." The day, month, and year are handwritten. Appx., p. 016.

Mr. Harton testified that the parties executed two originals of the *Premarital Agreement*, gave one of the originals to Ms. Harton, kept one for himself, and thereafter placed his original of the agreement in his safe deposit box, where it remained until this divorce proceeding arose.<sup>2</sup>

For her part, Ms. Harton's position and testimony regarding the *Premarital Agreement* literally run the gamut of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>During the pendency of this case, Mr. Harton produced his original document to Ms. Harton's counsel for inspection. The document introduced at the hearing is a copy of that original.

nearly every defense that can be raised to attack the validity of a prenuptial agreement.

At the preliminary hearing on September 18, 2020, Ms. Harton's counsel cited the following litany of objections to enforcement of the agreement: (a) that she was not represented by counsel; (b) that the *Premarital Agreement* presented by Mr. Harton was not authentic; (c) that the *Premarital Agreement* presented by Mr Harton was not the agreement she signed; (d) that the disclosure of assets was not complete; (e) that (with prompting from the Court) the timing of the execution of the agreement was "pressurized;" and, (f) that the content of the agreement was misrepresented to her.

At the August 12, 2022 hearing, Ms. Harton testified that the issue of a prenuptial agreement first came up in mid-May 2000. She testified that two weeks later Mr. Harton presented her with a two (or three) page document that was on Gas Search letterhead. She testified that she read it and did not understand it, and that Mr. Harton told her he needed it to protect his interest in the company because he had a partner and "it wouldn't be fair me [Ms. Harton] sitting across the table from him [the partner] making decisions about an oil and gas company I [Ms. Harton] knew nothing about." See, DVD of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Gas Search is the name of the company that Mr. Harton owned before and at the time of the parties' marriage.

08/12/2022 hearing, beginning at 51:07.

Ms. Harton testified that she understood the agreement to be premarital or prenuptial and she knew that it was something that had to be signed before the parties married. She further testified that she understood that Mr. Harton wanted to have a prenuptial agreement to protect the assets he owned prior to their intended marriage. She acknowledged that he went through a prior divorce and "was very bitter about it." Id., at 54:10.

Ms. Harton denied that she requested the insertion of language regarding custody of their children and said that language was done at Mr. Harton's suggestion. Id., at 58:30.

Ms. Harton denied seeing any other drafts of the agreement until the morning of the wedding. She claims that on that day, Mr. Harton presented her with a sealed envelope, that she was in a hurry and Mr. Harton was not ready to leave the house, that Mr. Harton told her where to go to sign the agreement and that he would sign it later. She testified that she went to the bank, that the notary opened the sealed envelope and instructed her where to sign. Importantly, Ms. Harton admitted that she did not read the document. She denied signing two originals. She further testified that after she signed the document, she took it home and put it on the kitchen table, that Mr. Harton was not home at that time, and that she never saw the agreement again, and that they never thereafter discussed it

during the marriage. Id., beginning at 1:02.

The signed and notarized *Premarital Agreement* contains the following pertinent passages that will impact equitable distribution and Ms. Harton's claim for spousal support.

Paragraph 1 of the agreement reads as follows:

SEPARATE PROPERTY. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the following property owned or subsequently acquired by either party shall remain and be their separate property:

- All property, including real or personal property, the income from such property, and the investments and re-investments of such property.
- All property acquired by either party by gift, devise, bequest or inheritance.

The property currently owned by each party is described in Exhibit A and Exhibit B to this Agreement, which by this reference are incorporated into this Agreement. Such separate property of each party shall be subject entirely to their own individual use, control, benefit and disposition. Neither of the parties shall before or after the contemplated marriage acquire for themselves individually, assigns or creditors, any interest in the separate property of the other party nor any right to the use, control, benefit or disposition of such property.

Appx., pp. 009 to 010.

Paragraph 2 of the agreement reads:

EARNINGS DURING MARRIAGE. Each party agrees that all the earnings and accumulations resulting from the other spouse's personal services, skill, efforts and work, together with all property acquired or income derived therefrom, shall be the separate property of the party to whom the earnings and income are attributable, subject to other provisions of this Agreement. Each of the parties understands that except for this Agreement, the earnings and accumulations from the personal services, skill, effort and work of the other throughout the marriage would be joint property, and that by this Agreement such earnings and income during the marriage

are made the separate property of the person to whom the earnings and accumulations are attributable.

Appx., p. 010.

And Paragraph 9 of the agreement reads:

SUPPORT. Each of the parties has income from property interest sufficient to provide for his or her respective support. Each has been self-supporting for a period of time prior to the contemplated marriage. Both parties feel that they are capable of future self-support and of maintaining themselves on a self-supporting basis. Therefore, in the event of a marital separation or dissolution of marriage, it is agreed and understood that neither party shall seek or obtain any form of alimony or support from the other, or seek any relief other than a distribution of their joint property interests or those property interests acquired during the course of their marriage, in any manner other than as provided by this Agreement.

Appx., p. 013.

Additional facts relevant to Petitioner's assignments of error are set forth below.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal arises from a ruling from the Family Court of Wood County, West Virginia that the parties' Premarital Agreement is invalid.

The parties were married on June 17, 2000. The morning of their wedding, the parties signed the *Premarital Agreement*. The parties' recollections of the events leading up to the signing of the agreement differ starkly. Mr. Harton testified that the parties discussed a prenuptial agreement months before the wedding and Ms. Harton claims they discussed it first just a few weeks before the wedding.

Mr. Harton prepared the document from an internet website, and that he did so in 1999. This is evidenced by the fact that the document, in three different places, has "19\_\_\_" type-written, over which someone hand wrote "2000." Mr. Harton claims that the document was later altered, at Ms. Harton's request, to include language regarding custody of his children from a prior marriage and Ms. Harton's children from a prior relationship. Ms. Harton claims this was Mr. Harton's idea.

Mr. Harton claims that the parties went to a bank the morning of the wedding and they signed two originals which were notarized.

Ms. Harton claims that when the parties first discussed a prenuptial agreement, it was two or three pages long, on letterhead from Mr. Harton's company, that she read the document but did not understand it, and told Mr. Harton so. Mr. Harton denied there was ever a two or three page agreement.

Ms. Harton claims she did not see the document again until the morning of the wedding when Mr. Harton handed her a sealed envelope and told her to go to the bank to sign the document. She claims she went there alone, that the notary opened the envelope, showed her where to sign and she signed it. She did not read it, although she later testified that she did not understand it. The *Premarital Agreement* signed the day of the wedding is twelve pages long (including financial disclosures).

Neither of the parties consulted with counsel, although Ms. Harton was not prevented from doing so. However, Ms. Harton testified that she knew the purpose of the agreement was to protect Mr. Harton's premarital assets.

After an evidentiary hearing, the Family Court found the *Premarital Agreement* to be invalid, citing the parties' failure to consult counsel, Ms. Harton's "limited" ability to consult with counsel, and the fact that it was signed the day of the wedding. The Family Court further found that the *Premarital Agreement* was signed by Ms. Harton under duress, that she did not understand the content and legal effect of the agreement, and that the agreement is not written in language that is understandable to an adult of reasonable intelligence.

Petitioner asserts that the Family Court erred in its rulings. The evidence showed that Ms. Harton voluntarily signed the agreement. There was no clear and convincing evidence of duress introduced at the hearing. The agreement is written in plain language that any reasonably intelligent individual can understand, and Ms. Harton has a college degree.

Importantly, Ms. Harton did not read the *Premarital*Agreement prior to signing it, and no one prevented her from doing so. Under settled West Virginia law, a party who signs a contract without reading it does so at his or her peril. This rule should apply to prenuptial agreements in the same manner as

any other contract. It is manifestly unjust for a party to a prenuptial agreement to voluntary choose not to read the document, and then later attack its validity claiming that he or she did not understand the legal effect of the agreement.

The Family Court's ruling should be reversed and the Premarital Agreement should be enforced.

## V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The issue of whether a party may attempt to avoid the consequences of a prenuptial agreement when that party voluntarily failed to read it may be amenable to a Rule 20 argument. Otherwise, Petitioner believes this matter should be scheduled for oral argument under Rule 19.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a final order entered by a circuit court judge upon a review of, or upon a refusal to review, a final order of a family court judge, we review the findings of fact made by the family court judge under the clearly erroneous standard, and the application of law to the facts under an abuse of discretion standard. We review questions of law de novo.

Syl. pt., Carr v. Hancock, 216 W. Va. 474, 607 S.E.2d 803 (2004);

see also Amanda C. v. Christopher P., No. 22-ICA-2, \_\_\_\_ W. Va.
\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_\_, 2022 WL 17098574 (Ct. App. 2022).

B. The Family Court erred in finding that the parties' Premarital Agreement was invalid and unenforceable. Even if the Court found Ms. Harton's testimony more credible than Mr. Harton's, the Court abused its discretion in applying law to the facts.

As noted above, the parties' testimony regarding the events leading up to the execution of the Premarital Agreement differ starkly. In its Final Order Regarding Validity of Premarital Agreement, the Family Court laid out the differences in the parties' testimony and made findings of fact in which it essentially accepted Ms. Harton's version of events. However, even looking at Ms. Harton's testimony in its best light, the Family Court's subsequent conclusions of law constitute an abuse of discretion.

In its Final Order, the Court concluded that:

- 1. There is no legal presumption that the premarital agreement at issue in these proceedings is valid and enforceable given that the parties did not have legal counsel.
- 2. The Respondent (Mr. Harton) procured the premarital agreement from the Petitioner (Ms. Harton) under circumstances of duress.
- 3. The Petitioner (Ms. Harton) did not have an understanding of the content and legal effect of the premarital agreement. The Respondent (Mr. Harton) did not have an understanding of the content or terms used in the premarital agreement.
- 4. The content and legal effect of the premarital agreement would not be understandable to an adult of reasonable intelligence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>At the December 5, 2022 hearing where the Family Court orally announced its rulings, it found Ms. Harton's testimony about the day the document was signed "extremely credible" because of the details Ms. Harton recalled of that day. See, DVD of 12/05/2022 hearing at 5:37. While it is true that Ms. Harton testified in detail to her version of the events that morning, she could not recall the time of the parties' wedding. See, DVD of 08/12/2022 hearing, at 1:21:00.

- 5. As in Owen [Owen v. Owen, 233 W. Va. 521, 759 S.E.2d 468 (2014)], the premarital agreement fails to provide a specific explanation of the rights Petitioner was waiving, especially those associated with property acquired during the course of the marriage that would be deemed marital property, subject to equitable distribution.
- 6. The premarital marital agreement of the parties dated June 17, 2000, is invalid and unenforceable.

Appx., p. 007.

At the time the prenuptial agreement was executed, the standard for enforcing prenuptial agreements was the following:

Prenuptial agreements that establish property settlements and support obligations at the time of divorce are presumptively valid in West Virginia; the burden of proving the invalidity of such an agreement is upon the person who would have the agreement held invalid.

Syl. pt. 1, Gant v. Gant, 174 W. Va. 740, 329 S.E.2d 106 (1985).

#### Moreover:

The validity of a prenuptial agreement is dependent upon its valid procurement, which requires its having been executed voluntarily, with knowledge of its content and legal effect, under circumstances free of fraud, duress, or misrepresentation; however, although advice of independent counsel at the time parties enter into a prenuptial agreement helps demonstrate that there has been no fraud, duress or misrepresentation, and that the agreement was entered into knowledgeably and voluntarily, such independent advice of counsel is not a prerequisite to enforceability when the terms of the agreement are understandable to a reasonably intelligent adult and both parties have had the opportunity to consult with independent counsel.

Syl. pt. 2, Gant [Emphasis added].

Here, it is undisputed that neither of the parties consulted with counsel or were represented by counsel in connection with the execution of the prenuptial agreement.

In 2009 (nine years after the parties' prenuptial agreement was signed), the West Virginia Supreme Court decided the case of Ware v. Ware, 224 W. Va. 599, 687 S.E.2d 382 (2009).

The Ware case overruled syllabus point 1 of Gant and replaced it with the following:

For the presumption of validity to apply to a prenuptial agreement, both parties to that agreement must be represented by independent counsel. Moreover, where one party to a prenuptial agreement is represented by counsel while the other is not, the burden of establishing the validity of that agreement is on the party seeking its enforcement. To the extent that *Gant v. Gant*, 329 S.E.2d 106, 174 W. Va. 740 (1985), and its progeny hold otherwise, they are overruled.

Syl. pt. 5, Ware.

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