IN THE INTERMEDIATE APPELLATE COURT OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-ICA-242

ICA EFiled: Jul 25 2023 09:17PM EDT Transaction ID 70485395

CONFIDENTIAL CASE

DENNY HARTON,

Respondent Below, Petitioner,

V.

Appeal from a Final Order of the Family Court Of Wood County, West Virginia (20-D-70)

TERRI HARTON,

| remoner below. Responden | Petitioner | Below. | Responden | t. |
|--------------------------|------------|--------|-----------|----|
|--------------------------|------------|--------|-----------|----|

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

KATHARINE L. DAVITIAN

Counsel for Respondent

State Bar No. 6924
DAVITIAN & DAVITIAN
420 Market Street
Parkersburg, WV 26101
304-428-8207

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is the Respondent's contention that the Family Court of Wood County, West Virginia, committed no error and did not abuse its discretion in making its findings and conclusions as set forth in the Final Order Regarding the Validity of the Premarital Agreement entered by the Family Court on May 10, 2023. The Family Court correctly resolved the conflicting evidence presented by the parties regarding the procurement of the Premarital Agreement in this case and engaged in a thorough analysis of the facts and the law applicable to this case.

Neither party was represented by legal counsel in the procurement of the Premarital Agreement, therefore, the presumption of validity does not apply to the Agreement. The Family Court's conclusion that the Premarital Agreement is invalid was properly based upon the Respondent not having the requisite knowledge of the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement, and not having a reasonable opportunity to seek legal counsel in regards to the Premarital Agreement, as well as that the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement would not be understandable to an adult of reasonable intelligence. The Agreement failed to provide the Respondent with a specific explanation of the rights she was waiving, especially those associated with property acquired during the course of the marriage that would be deemed marital property, subject to equitable distribution.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4), the Respondent believes the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing the final order of a family court judge, the family court's findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard, the application of the law to the facts is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and questions of law are reviewed de novo. Syllabus, *Carr v. Hancock*, 216 W.Va. 474, 607 S.E.2d 803 (2004).

B. The Family Court did not abuse its discretion in applying the law to the facts of this case and in concluding that the premarital agreement at issue herein is invalid and unenforceable.

Although "Section B" of Petitioner's Brief is the first argument made by the Petitioner in this Appeal, it is not one of his Assignments of Error, and it is a difficult argument for Respondent to follow. Initially the Petitioner asserts that "...even looking at [the Respondent's] testimony in its best light, the Family Court's subsequent conclusions of law constitute an abuse of discretion." (Petitioner's Brief at p. 15). However, Petitioner's Brief does not make clear how the Family Court abused its discretion.

Thereafter, the Petitioner's Brief cites the six (6) conclusions of law set forth by the Family Court in it's Final Order, and then cites/discusses excepts from the *Gant* and *Ware* cases. Petitioner's Brief then states, in a conclusory fashion, that "...assuming that the *Ware* standard applies here, the Family Court erred in concluding that the presumption of validity did not apply here.". (Petitioner's Brief at p. 18). However, Petitioner does not provide any explanation or argument as to how the Family Court abused its discretion in concluding that the legal presumption of validity does not apply in this case. None of the argument propounded by the Petitioner addresses the issue of whether the

presumption of validity applies in this case or why the standard set forth in *Ware* would not be applicable.

In any event, in 2009, the West Virginia Supreme Court again stressed the importance of both parties having independent legal counsel in the procurement of a premarital agreement, to the point of overruling, to a certain extent, the presumption of validity set forth in *Gant*, and held that "...for the presumption of validity to apply to a prenuptial agreement, both parties to that agreement must be represented by independent counsel." *Ware v. Ware*, 224 W.Va. 599, 687 S.E.2d 382 (2009). The Court went on to state that "...not only does the presence of independent counsel help to demonstrate that there 'has been no fraud, duress, or misrepresentation, and that the agreement was entered into knowledgeably and voluntarily,' such counsel is now a prerequisite to obtaining the presumption of validity that typically applies to prenuptial agreements." *Ware* citing *Gant*, Syl. Pt. 2, 174 W.Va. at 742, 329 S.E. 2d at 108 (*Emphasis added*).

Although Petitioner's Brief cites similar language from *Ware*, Petitioner's Brief then goes on to briefly address burdens of proof. (Petitioner's Brief at p.17). However, burdens of proof have nothing to do with whether the presumption of validity is applicable to a premarital agreement. Clearly, the Family Court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Premarital Agreement in this case was not entitled to the presumption of validity given that neither party was represented by legal counsel.

Petitioner's remaining arguments in Section B of Petitioner's Brief are essentially that the Premarital Agreement was signed voluntarily, without duress, with knowledge of its content and legal effect, and that the content and legal effect would be understandable to an adult of reasonable intelligence. These issues are Petitioner's remaining Assignments of Error, and will be addressed by

the Respondent herein below.

C. Duress

After careful consideration and a considerable review of all available case law, the Respondent has chosen not to argue this Assignment of Error.

D. The Family Court properly found that the Respondent did not understand the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement.

This Assignment of Error alleges the Family Court erred in finding that the Respondent did not understand the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement because: (1) the Respondent did not read the agreement; and, (2) the Respondent knew the Petitioner wanted to protect his premarital property. The Petitioner's entire argument is based upon Petitioner's premise that the Respondent did not read the premarital agreement before she signed it. The problem with this is that Petitioner's premise is false, and the Petitioner has ignored the Respondent's testimony before the Family Court, the findings of the Family Court, and even his own testimony before the Family Court.

It was undisputed that the Petitioner presented the Respondent with some form of an agreement at some point in time - although the parties do dispute the content of that agreement and the timing of its presentation to the Respondent from the Petitioner. The Petitioner took the position, and testified before the Family Court, that the agreement originally presented to the Respondent was the same agreement Respondent signed (with one minor modification having to do with non-marital children) on the day of the wedding. (Digital recording of 8/12/22 hearing at 1:45:26). The Petitioner's Statement of Fact in his Brief to this Court also reiterates that this was the position taken by the Petitioner before the Family Court - that the original agreement Petitioner printed off the internet was the agreement he gave to the Respondent. The Petitioner made only one minor

modification to the Premarital Agreement, and that is the Premarital Agreement the parties ultimately signed. (Petitioner's Brief at pp. 5-6).

The Respondent repeatedly testified, on direct examination and on cross-examination, that she read the first version of the agreement that was presented to her by the Petitioner. (Digital recording of 8/12/22 hearing at 0:51:08, 1:33:12, 1:33:04). The Petitioner did <u>not</u> dispute Respondent's testimony in this regard.

The Family Court noted in Finding of Fact No. 17 of the Final Order that "According to Petitioner, she was first presented with a copy of some sort of agreement approximately one to two weeks after she moved in with Respondent in mid-May, 2000, ...Petitioner stated that she read the agreement, but did not understand it, and told Respondent she did know what any of it meant...."

(A.R. 003). The Family Court also found in Finding of Fact No. 21 of the Final Order:

"21. The Respondent told the Petitioner where she needed to go and who she needed to see to have the agreement notarized. The Respondent had called around to several banks to find one that was open and had a notary. According to Petitioner, Respondent handed her a sealed manila envelope with the agreement inside to take to the bank, which she did. Because the envelope was sealed, she did not open it. Her testimony that she did not read this second agreement because she had read the first agreement and did not understood it, that there really was no point in re-reading what she thought was the same agreement, with a minor modification relating to her children, is reasonable and credible. (Emphasis added). (A.R. 004).

It is disingenuous and untenable for the Petitioner to take the position, and testify before the Family Court, that the agreement originally presented to the Respondent was the same agreement Respondent signed (with one minor modification) on the day of the wedding, and then completely ignore Respondent's undisputed testimony that she read the original agreement, ignore the Family Court's findings, and now try to argue before this Court that the Respondent did not read the

agreement.

It is of no surprise that neither party presented any evidence, other than their own testimony, on the issue of the timing and content of the original agreement given that 22 years had passed since the agreement was presented to the Respondent. Memories can become cloudy with the passage of time - indeed, the Petitioner testified, to the effect, that he did not believe the Respondent was lying about her recollection of events, that she believed what she was saying, but her recollection was just wrong. (Digital recording of 8/12/22 hearing at 1:44:54 and 2:15:50).

In any event, it is important to recognize that while the parties did dispute the timing and content of the original agreement presented to the Respondent, ultimately it is not necessary to resolve those disputed issues when looking at the issue of whether Respondent read the Premarital Agreement she signed. Indeed, if the Petitioner's version of these events is accurate - that the Premarital Agreement signed by the Respondent on her wedding day is the same agreement Petitioner originally presented to the Respondent - then the Respondent did, in fact, read the agreement that she signed. She simply did not read it a second time on the day of her wedding. And as far as her reasons for not reading the Premarital Agreement a second time, the Family Court found that the Respondent's testimony in this regard was both reasonable and credible, a finding which Petitioner's Brief does not take exception to or assign error. (A.R. 004 - Finding of Fact No. 21).

On the other hand, if the Respondent's version of these events is accurate - that the Premarital Agreement signed by the Respondent on her wedding day is not the same agreement Petitioner originally presented to her - then the Petitioner had to have placed a completely different agreement in the sealed envelope which he gave to the Respondent on the day of the wedding. And if that is the case, then it would certainly raise the issues of fraud and/or misrepresentation in the procurement

of the premarital agreement, which would not bode well for the Petitioner.

The Petitioner cannot have it both ways - was the agreement he originally presented to the Respondent the same agreement she signed on the day of the wedding or not? The Petitioner's argument that the Respondent cannot claim a lack of knowledge of the content and legal effect of the agreement because she did not read it is without merit because it is undisputed that the Respondent read the original agreement given to her by the Petitioner, and because of the position taken by the Petitioner before the Family Court.

Although the Petitioner's Assignment of Error alleges two (2) reasons why the Family Court's finding was erroneous, the Petitioner's Brief fails to argue the second reason - that is, that the Respondent understood the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement because she understood the Petitioner wanted to protect his pre-marital assets. The Petitioner's argument contains one sentence, without further elaboration, to-wit: "She knew the purpose of the agreement was to protect his premarital assets." (*Petitioner's Brief at p. 26*).

Understanding generally that Petitioner wanted to protect his pre-marital assets is not the same thing as understanding the terms and provisions of a written agreement, and the legal effect of those terms and provisions as is required under the law in West Virginia. That is especially true where the premarital agreement goes far beyond simply protecting pre-marital assets, as it does in this case.

The Premarital Agreement herein seeks to classify any and all marital earnings, and any and all property acquired during the marriage with those earnings, as non-marital property and not subject to equitable distribution - rather than just protecting Petitioner's pre-marital assets. (A.R. 010). And the language chosen by the Petitioner to use in the Premarital Agreement is not clear and

unequivocal, further exacerbating Respondent's ability to have requisite knowledge of the content and legal effect of the Premarital Agreement, as is discussed more fully herein below in Section E. This Premarital Agreement goes so far as to provide that upon divorce, the Respondent's share of any marital home would be the "...proportionate...increase in value during the marriage of the homestead real estate, proportionate to the percentage contribution of the household expenses, if any, and child care/household duties performed by [Respondent] during the course of the marriage." (A.R. 012 - Paragraph 8(b)). And the Premarital Agreement is completely silent on the issue of marital debts. (A.R. 9-14).

In *Owen v. Owen*, 233 W.Va. 521, 759 S.E.2d 468 (2014) (per curium opinion), while affirming the rulings of the lower courts that the premarital agreement was invalid due to the wife not having the requisite knowledge of the content and legal effect of the premarital agreement she signed (and apparently did not read), and observing that the wife did not have independent legal counsel, the Supreme Court found that "There was no specific explanation of the rights she was waiving, especially those associated with property acquired during the course of the marriage that would be deemed marital property, subject to equitable distribution." *Id.* at 473 (emphasis added).

As in *Owen*, and as properly found by the Family Court, the Premarital Agreement at issue herein simply does not contain a clear and unequivocal waiver of Respondent's marital property rights. (A.R. 006 - Finding of Fact 36). The Family Court correctly found that "It is inconceivable to charge Petitioner with knowledge of the contents of the premarital agreement and the legal effect of those contents when the agreement itself does not clearly define the parties rights or accurately state the marital rights the parties are waiving, especially in light of Respondent's own lack of

accurate knowledge of the content or legal effect of the agreement." (A.R. 006 - Finding of Fact 37).

Petitioner's Brief also asserts that the Respondent "...chose not to seek the advice of counsel at any time after the issue of prenuptial agreement was discussed...". (*Petitioner's Brief at p. 26*). This assertion is contrary to the findings of the Family Court, which findings the Petitioner has not taken exception to or assigned error.

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